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there.after without oral argument unless ei-
kher counsel, requests oral argument in writ-
ing within 10 days hereof.

IT IS FURTHER oRDERED that Plain-
t~s Motion For Protective Order Re: Ex-
per~ Fee Of Dr: Maric (doc. #98) is
GRANTED and that Defendant shall reim-
burse Plaintiffs counsel the sum o~ $500.00
[$1400.00 paid less the sum of $900.00
($450.00 x 2 hours)] within 30 .days of the
:.date of this Orddr. Absent good cause
shown,, the failure to timely pay those fees
ordered reimbursed herein may result in
sanctions being imposed by the Cour~ includ-
ing, but not limited to, an Order precluding
~he Defendant. from using Dr. Maric or his
deposition testimony at trial.

IT IS FURTI~ER ORDERED denying
Plaintifffs counsel’s request that ~1 reason-
able deposition fees charged by Dr. Maric be
waived on the grounds that a manifest injus-
tice would allegedly occur were Plaintiff re-
quired to pay Dr. Maric’s reasonable deposi-
tion fees.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED denying
Plaint~s counsel’s request that he not be
required to pay for two hours of scheduled
deposition t~me for Dr. Maric’s deposition.

IT IS .FURTHER ORDERED denying
without prejudice Defendant’s request that
Dr. Maric’s $140.0.00 deposition cancellation
fee by paid by either Plaintiff or his counsel.
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agreements with independent distributors
were anticompetitive. On plaintiffs’ motion
for class certification, the District Court,
Williams, J., held that: (1) named plaintiffs
were not adequate representatives of pro-
posed class, and (2) individual questions pre-
dominated over any common questions of law
or fact.

Motion denied.

1. Fede{al Civil Procedure ~=~163

To meet numerosity requirement for
class certification, class must be so numerous
that joinder of all members individually is
impr.acticable; there is no exact numerical
cu~-off, and specific facts of each case must
l~e examin.ed. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule
23(a)(1), 28 U.S.C~.

2. Federal Civil Procedure ~=~I81.5

Proposed class of "craf~ brewers" satis-
fied numerosity rgqnirement for class certifi-
cation, in antitrust suit against major beer
brewing company;, existence of at least 12
plaintiffs spread .over !2-state region made
joinder impractical. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.
Rule 23(a)(1), 28 U.S.CA.

3. Federal Civil Procedure ~=~165

To meet commonality requirement for
class certSfication, there must be questions of
law or fact common to class. Fed.Rules
Civ.Proc.Rule 23(a)(2), 28 U.S.C.A.

4. Federal Civil Procedure ~=161.1

In re BEER DISTRIBUTION
ANTITRUST LITIGATION.

No. C 97-206~4 SW.

United States Dish4ct Court,
N.D. California.

Nov. 10, 1998.

Craf~ brewers brought antRrust suit
against major beer brewer, alleging that new

Commonality and numerosity require-
ments for class certification evaluate suffi-
ciency of class itself, while typicality and
.adequacy of representation requirements
evaluate sufficiency of named plaintiff. Fed.
Rules Civ.Pro~.Rule 23(a), 28 U.S.C~

5. F~deral.Civil Procedure ~=~181.5

Proposed class of "craft brewers" satis-
fied commonality requirement for chss certi-
fication, in anti~’ust suit against major beer
brewing company; all plaintiffs were chal-
lenging anticompetitive effect of same pro-
grams implemented by defendant. Fed.
Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 23(a)(2), 28 U.S.C.A.
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6. Federal Civil Procedure ~164
Claims of purported cJass representative

need not be identical to claims of bther class
members, in order to satisfy typicality re-
quirement for class certification, but repre-
sentative must be par~ of class and possess
same interest and suffer same injury as class
members. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 23(a)(3),
28 U.S.C.A.

7. Federal Civil Procedure ~164
Test for determining whether purported

class representative’s claims satisfy typicality
requi.r, ement for class certification is whether
other class members have same or similar
injury, whether action is based on conduct
which is not unique to named plaintiff, and
whether other class members have been in-
jared by same course of’ conduc~. Fed.Rules
Civ.Proc.Rule 23(a)(3), 28 U.S.C~.

8. Federal Civil Procedure ~=~181.5
F.our named plaintiffs satisfied t~picality

requirement for class certification of craft
brewers’ aniitcust suit against major, beer
brewer, even if. one named plaintiff did not
fall within complaint’s definition of "craft
brewer"; collectively, named plaintiffs pos-
sessed same interest and suffered same. al-

¯ leged injury as members of class they sought
to represent. Fed.Ruies Civ.Proc.Rule
.23(a)(3), 28 U.S.C.A.

9. Federal Civil Procedure ~164
To meet adequacy of representation re-

quirement, for class certification, named
plaintiff must be able fairly and adequately
to protec~ interests of all members in class.
Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule ’ 23(a)(4), 28
U.S.CA.

10. Federal Civil Procedure ~=~164
Representation is adequate, for purposes

of class certification, if: (1) attorney repre-
senting class is qualified and competent; and
(2) class representatives are not disqualified
by interests antagonistic to remainder of
class.

11. Federal Civil Procedure ~=~181.5
Named plaintiffs were not adequate rep-

resentatives of proposed class of craft brew- .
ers, for purpose of cer~dng antitrust suit
against major beer brewer as class action;

named plain~ffs knd proposed class me,abets
competed with one another for distribution of
their beer produc~s and subject of shitwas
allegedly anticompetiti~ie agreements be-
tween defendant and independent dist~ibu.
tors. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule. 23(a)(4), 28
U.S.CA.

12. Federal Civil Procedure ~=~181.5
Individual questions predominated over

any common questions of law or fact, pre-
cluding class cergfication of craft brewers’
antitrust suit challenging major beer brew-
er’s agreements with independent distribu.
tors; cour~ would have to separately analyze
each d~ributoFs relationship with defendant
and each plaintiff in order to resolve exclu-
sive dealing, refusal to deal and attempted
monopolization allegations. Fed.Rules Civ.
l~roc.Ruie 23(b)(3), 28 U.S.C.A.

Joseph W. Cotchett, Bruce L. Simon,
Gwendolyn R. Giblin, Cotchett, Pitre & Si-
mon, Burlingame, CA, Roger M. Schrimp,
James F. Lewis, lViichelle L. Christian, Dam-
rell, Nelson, Schrimp, Pallios & .Ladine, lVio-
deste, CA, for plaintiffs.

George R. Corey, Jeffrey D. Manos, Dario
de Ghetaldl, Corey, Luzaich, l~anos & P]isc-
ka, Millbrae, CA, for Huntiag~on Beach
Brewing Co. and Kenneti~ Allen.

James A. Hennefer, Law Offices of James
A. Hennefer, San Francisco, CA, for Lake
Tahoe Brewing Co.

Peter E. Moll, Carmine R. Zarlei~ga, John
¯ J. Rosenthal, Howry & Simo.n, Washington,

DC, Robert P. Taylor, Edwin H. Wheeler,
Howry & Simon, Menlo Park, CA, Richard
M. Steuer, Kaye, Scholer, Fierman, Hays &
Handler, New York City, Daniel Kolditz,
General Counsel, An_heuser-Busch Inc., for
defendants.

ORDER DENYING WITHOUT PREJU-
DICE PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR

CLASS CERTIFICATION

WILLIAMS, District Judge.

Flaingffs Hunting~on Beach .Brewing Com-
pany d/b/a E1 Toro Brewing Comp~hy ("El
Toro"), Kenneth Allen d!b/a Anderson Valley
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i t~rewing Company ("Anderson Valley")~
.Lake Tahoe Brewing Company, Inc. d/b/a
~i Tahoe Basin Beverage Company ("Lake Ta-
hoe"), and St. Staffs Brewing Company ("St.
Staffs") each filed separate class action corn-

against Defendant Anheuser-Busch,
("Auheuser-Busch") alleging claims un-

¯ der various federal antfl~ust statutes. Fol-
iflowing consolidation of these four separate
actions, Plaintiffs filed a consolidated class
:’action complaint alleging the following five
causes of action: (1) exclusive dealing in
.violation of § I of the Sherman Act (15
U.S.C. § 1); (2) exclusive dealing in violation
:of § 3 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. § 14);

concer~ed refusal to deal and group boy-
. co~ as a per se v~olation of § 1 of the Sher-
i. man Act (15 U.S.C. § 1); (4) concerted refus-
al to deal and group boycot~ under the rule of

pursuant to § 1 of the Sherman Act
(15 U.S.C. § 1); and (5)attempted monopoli-
zation in violation of § 2 of the Sherrhan Act
(15 U.S.C. § 2).

Pla~t~ffs now move for class cert~cation
¯ and an Order that this action may be main-

as a class action pursuant to Federal
~ Rule of Civil Procedure 23. For the reasons

:.set forth below the Court DENIES Plain-
tiffs’ motion without prejudice..

I. BACKGROUND

In certain areas of the United States, state
~ manufacturers to distribute

their own beer to stores, restaurants,, and
’;bars. In areas where self-distribution is not

beer manufacturers typically era-
distributors, or wholesalers, to dis~b-

Ute beer for them. Distributors. have a per-
:: sonal interest in the success of their product

as statutes of many states require dis:
tributors to purchase the beer they deliver.

if a particu~.ar beer does not sell
well, its. distributors as well as its manufac-

;!:rarer suffer economically. In most instances,
listributors are responsible not only for beer

i’~delivery, but also for such other activities as
product placement, special promotions, and

of overage beer.

Anheuser-Busch. is the world’s largest
of beer. As a major beer m’an-

Anheuser-Busch has an estab-
lished distribution network. This distribu-
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tion network includes some Anheuser-Busch- ’
owned distributors and some independent
wholesalers. Plaintiffs allege that t.o in-
crease its share of the. beer market, Auheu-
ser-Busch implemented an illegal "100%
Share of Mind" campaign with its indepen-
dent distributors. This campaign was first
announced in March 1996, and, according-to
Plaintiffs, demonstrates anti-competitive con-
duct by Anheuser-Busch and an antihn~st
conspiracy with its distributors.

The 100% Share of Mind campaign con-
slsts of two programs: (1) an exclusivity
incentive program; and (2) Amended and
Restated Anheuser-Busch Wholesaler Equi- ’
~y Agreements.

A. The Exclusivity Incentive Program
Beghming on January 1, 1997, Anheuser-

Busch offered financial incentives to indepen-
dent dis~butors which choose to exclusively
distribute Anheuser-Busch products. The
incentives under the .Exclusivity Incentive
Program include: (1) a rebate on each case
of Anheuser-Busch beer sold; (2) additional
days of credit in which to pay for Anheuser-
Busch products; and (3) reimbursement for
t~uck painting. Under the Program, inde-
pendent Anheuser-Busch wholesalers are
categorized as levels "A" through "E." A
wholesaler that exclusively sells Anheuser-
Busch products is level "A" while a wholesal-
er that sells any non-Anheuser-Busch beers
is an "E" level wholesaler, ineligible to re-
ceive incentives.          ..

B. The Amended .Wholesaler Equity
Agreements

Anheuser-Busch has an identical. Equity
Agreement with each of its independent
wholesalers. Effective August 1997, .Anheu-
ser-Busch uniformly amended its Equity
Agreements.. The Equity Agreement in ef-
fect prior to the 1997 amendment granted
each wholesaler an exclusive territory in re-
~n for which each wholesaler agreed to
exercise its "best effort" to promote, sell
and service Anheuse~-Busch products in the
territory. The Amended Equity Agreements
replaced the ’~best efforts" obligation with
one to devote "primary efforts" to the sale of
Anheuser.-Busch products. The Amended
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Equity Agreements do not require wholesal-
ers to cease distributing all non-Anheuser-
Busch products,

C. Results of the 100% Share of Mind
Program

Plaintiffs allege that as a result of Anheu-.
ser-~Busch’s 100% Share of Mind campaign,
various inddpendent Anheuser-Busch distrib-
utors terminateddistribution agreement~
with Plaintiffs, either outright or construc-
tively, Plaintiffs allege that five Anheuser-
Busch distributors terminated their distribu-
tion agreements with St. Stan’s during the
period from May to October 1996. These
distributors serviced territories in the North-
ern .California area. PlainL4ffs allege that
five Anheuser-Busch distributors terminated
distribfltion agreements with Lake Tahoe
during the period from July to December
1996. These distribu~rs serviced ~rritories
¯ in the Northern California area. Plaintiffs
allege that three Anheuser-Busch distribu-
tors either terminated distribution agree-
ments with Anderson Valley or stopped ef-
forts to sell Anderson Valley beer to retailers
’~ithin weeks" of March 1996. Plaintiffs
allege that two Anheuser-Busch dista4butors
substantially reduced or completel~r stopped
efforts to sell E1 Tore beer to retailers "with-
in weeks" of March 1996.

D. Class Definition

PlainL-iffs seek to ce~-y this class action
with the opt-out Plaintiff class defined as
follows:

All craft breweries in the States of Hawaii,
California, Oregon, Washington, Ne~rada,
Utah, Idaho, Colorado, Wyoming, Mon-
tana, Alaska, and Arizona, who,. between
March 1, 1996 and the present, (i) had
existing beer distAbutor/wholesaler agree-
ments terminated by distributors who also
had wholesaler agreemenLs with Defendant
Ar~.euser-Busch ("A-B distributors"),
and/or (ii) had existing beer distribu-
tor/wholesaler agreements constx~uctively
terminated by A-B distributors, and/or (iii)
were refused services by A-B distributors.
Excluded from the Class are all craft
breweries in which Defendant has either

an equity interest or master distribugon
rights.

According to Plaintiffs, the term "craft brew.
ely" is a term of art defined by the Ins~tute
for Brewing Studies ("IBS") as a brewery
that: (1) possesses a Federal Brewer:s
rice; .(2) brews at l~ast 90 percent of beer
sold using no more than 10 percent corn, rice
or refined sugar adjunct, of any form with
certain exceptions; (3) does not use ar~icial
colors,, ar~cial flavors, or any processing
aids that combine to become part of the final
beer product, with the exception of certain
fruit and honey beers; and (4) is not more
than one-third owned (or the economic equiv-
alent) by another company of greater than
$50 million revenue that is not itself a craf~
brewer. Plaintiffs define beer as "beer, ale,
porter, stout, and other similar fermented
beverages of any name or description con-

, raining one-half of one percent or more of
alcohol by volume, brewed or produced from
malt, wholly or in part, or from any substi-
tute therefor." Finally, Plaintiffs define
craf* beer as "any beer produced by a craft
brewery."

II. LEGAL STANDARD
"As soon as practicable after the com-

mencement of an action broflght as a class
action, the cour~ shall determin.e, by order
whether it is to be so maintained." Fed.
R.Civ.P. 23(c). To maintain an action as a
class action, Plaintiffs must meet the require-
ments of both Rule 23(a) and 23(b). Se,
Fed~R.Civ.P. 23; see also Hanon ~. ’Da~pro-
duc$s Corp., 976 F.2d 497, 508 (9~h
Cir.1992)(plainfiff bears the burden of estab-
lislgng the prerequisites of Fed.R.Civ.P.
23(a)); Nguyen Da Yen ~. Kissinger, 70
F.R.D. 656, 661 ~.D.Cal.1976)(burden of es-
tablishing 23(a) and 23(b) requirements for
ceAlfying a class action "ties with the par~y
seeking certification").

Rule 23(a) establishes four prerequisites
for every class action: (1) the class mus~ be
so numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable; (2) there must be questions of
law or fact common to the class; (3) the
claims or defenses of the representative par-
ties must be L-ypical of the claims or defenses
of the class; and (4) the i-epresentat3ve par-



IN RE BEER DISTRIBUTION
Cite as 188 1LR.D. 549

ties must fairly end adequately protect the
interests of the class. Fed.R.Civ.P.
(4).

In .addition to satisfying the prerequisites
of Rule 23(a), parties seeking class cer~ca-
gon must also show that the action is maim
tainable under Rule 23(b)(1), (2), or (3)..
Rule 23(b)(8) requires a finding by the court
that the questions of law or fact common to
the members of the class predominate over
any questions affecting only individual mem-
bers, and that a class action is superior to
other available methods.for the fair and effi-
cient adjudication of the conlroversy. Fed..
R.Civ.P. 23(b)(3).

HI.. DISCUSSION

Plaintiffs argue that this action should be
maintained as a class action because it meets
the four prerequisites of Rule 23(a) as well as
the requirements 9f Rule 23(b)(3).

A. Rule 23(a)

Rule 23(a) requires that all class actions
meet the standards of.numerosRy, common-
ality, typicality, and adequacy of representa-
tion.

1. Numerosity

[1] To meet this requirement, the c!~ss
mus~ be so numerous that joinder of all
members individua!ly is impracticable. Im-
practicability is not the same as impossibility:
it need not be shown that the number is so
large that it would be impossible to join
every class member. Harris ~. Palm
Springs Alpine Es~a~es, Inc., 329 F.2d 909,
918-14 (9th Cir.1964); Robidouzv. CeIani,
987 F.2d 931, 935 (2d C~r.1993). No exact
numerical cut-off can be stated. Rather, the
spe.cific fa~s of each case must be examined.
General Tel. Co. v. EEOC, 446 U.S. 318,
100 S.Ct. 1.698, 64 L.Ed.2d 319 (1980).

In this ~ction, Plaintiffs allege that as
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found to be practicable and therefore not
entitled to certification.

[2] The Court determines that the class
in.this acti6n meets the numerosity require-
ment. While there is some question as. to
exactly how many class members exist, the
record reflects that there are more than a
dozen. In addition, those class members are
sp~e.ad within a 12-state region. Joinder of
numerous plain~ffs from such a large area is
impracticable.

2. Commonality

[3,4] To meet this requirement, there
must be questions of law or fact common .to
the class. "The fact that there is some factu-
al variation among the class, grievances will
not defeat a class action ... A common
nucleus of operative facts is usually enough
to satisfy the commonality requirement of
Rule 28(a)(2)." Rosario v. Livaditis, 963
F.2d 1013, 1017-18 (Tth Cir.1992). Although
commonality is somewhat related to ~he typi-
cality requirement, discussed below, "’[c]om-
monality’ like ’numerosity’ evaluates the suf:
ficiency of the class itself, and ’typicality’ like
’adequacy of representation’ evaluates the
sufficiency of the named plaintiff .... "
Hassine v. Jeffes, 846 F.2d 169, 177 n. 4 (3d
Cir.1988).

[5] The Court has previ.ously determined
that in this action there are numerous ques-
tions of fact common to the class. See Order
Consolidating Cases and Appointing Co-
Lead Counsel, da~ed Jan. 7, 1998, at 4-5.
These questions involve the conception and
implementation of Anheuser-Busch’s 100%
Share of Mind campaign. Therefore, the
commonality requirement of Rule 23(a)(2) is
met.

3. Typicality
[6,7] To meet this requirement, the

"claims or defenses of the class represehta-
tire must be typical of the claims or defenses

many as 92 craft brewers might be members ’ of the class." Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(a)(3). "The
of the class. Anheuser-Busch argues thatpurpose, of the typicality requirement .is to
the record indicates less than 20 brewersassure that the interest of the named repre-
who meet the class definition. Furthermore,sentative aligns with the interests of the
Anheuser-Busch points to proposed classesclass." Hanor~ 976 F.2d at 508. The claims
with as many as 850 members that wereof the purported class representative need
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net be identical to the claims of other class
members, but the class representative "must
be part of the class and possess the same
interest and suffer the same injury as the
class members." General Telephone Co. of
Southwest v. Falcov4 457 U.S. 147, 156, 102
S.Ct. 2364, 72 L.Ed.2d 740 (1982). The test
"is whether other members have the.same or
similar injury, whether the action is based on
conduct which is not unique to the named
plaintiff.~, and whether other class members
have been injured by the same. course of
conduct." Hanon, 976 F.2d at 508.

[8] In this action, Anheuser-Busch a~-
gues that none of the four Plaintiffs is typi-
cal.. Anheuser-Busch correctly points out
that Lake Tahoe, which does not possess a
Federal Brewer’s Notice, does not fall within
the definition of "craft brewer" offered by
Plaintiffs. However, the Court determines
that the four Plaintiffs are collectively typical
of the class members. Among them, they
possess thh same interest and allege to have
suffered the same injury as the members of
the class they seek to represent.

4. Adequacy of Representation

[9] To meet this requirement, the person
representing the class must be able "fairly
and adequately to protect the interests" of all
members in the class. Fed,R.Civ.P. 23(a)(4).
If the members of a class are to be conclu-
sively bound by the judgment in .an action
prosecuted by a "representative," they must
have adequate representation. See Richards
v. Jefferson County, Alabama~ 517 U.S. 793,
116 S.Ct. 1761, 135 L.Ed.2d 76 (1996); see
also Crawford v. Honig, 37 F.3d 485, 487 (gth
Cir.1994).

[10] The representation is adequate if:
(1) the attorney representing the class is
qualified and competent; and (2) the class
representatives are not disqualified by inter-
ests antagonistic to the. remainder of the
class.. See Lenoill v. Infligh~ Motion Pic-
tures, Ina, 582 F.2d 507, 512 (9th Cir.!978).

a. Adequacy of Class Counsel

Defendants do not dispute the competence
of Plaintiffs’ counsel, and the Cour~ notes

that Plaintiffs’ counsel have ample experience
in bringing class actions.

b. Adequacy of Representatives

[11] The adequacy i~,quiry "serves to un-
cover conflicts of interest between named
parties and the class they seek to represent.,,
Amchem Products v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591,
117 S.Ct. 2231, 2250, 138 L.Ed.2d 689
(1997)(citing Falco~ 457 U.S. at 157-58, 102
S.Ct. 2364). "[A] class representative must
be par~ of .the class and .’possess the same
interest .and suffer the same injury’ as the
class members." Id., 117 S.Ct. at 2250-51
(quoting East: Tex. Motor Freight SysteM.
Inc. v. Rodriguez, 431 U.S. 395, 403, 97 S.Ct.
1891, 52 L.Ed.2d 453 (1977)). To assure
"adequate" representation, the class repre-
sentative’s personal claim.must not be incon:
sistent with the claims of other members of
the class. See Amch~m Products, 117 S.Ct.
at 2251..

In this action, Anheuser-Busch contends
that intra-class conflicts should preclude cer-
tification. Anheuser-Busch is correct.
Plaintiffs’ and the proposed class members
vigorously compete with one another for dis-
tribution of their beer products. Distribu-
tors cannot service every brand of beer..
Competition for the distribution "services of
beer distributors results in a conflict that
goes to the merits of this litigation. See
Newberg & Conte, 4 N.ewberg on Class Ac-
tions, § 18.17, at 18-59 (3d ed.1992)("a con-
flict that will preclude adequate representa-
tion must be one that. goes to the merits of
the litigation"). As a result, P1 .aintiffs are
not adequate representatives of the proposed
class. See Chestnut Fleet Rentals, Inc. v.
He~z Corp., 72 F.R.D. 541, 546
(E.D.Pa.1976)("Because of the nature of this
class, composed of members who have identi-
cal interests in exploiting the limited market
for their own benefit, we conclude that the
interests of the named plaintiffs are inhe~-
.ently antagonistic, rendering adequate repre-
sentation unlikely"); A1 Ba.~ne~ & Sov~ Inc.
.v. Outboard Marine Corp., 64 F.R.D. 43
(D.Del.1974)("the individual interests will of
necessity vie with each other in establishing
that they, as opposed to their neighboring
competitors, would have enjoyed -a larger
portion of the allegedi:~ lost business");
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Yeager’s Fue~ Inc. v. Pennsylvania Power &
Ligh~ Co., 162 F.R.D. 471, 478-79 (E.D.Pa.
1995)("the named representative’s proof, of
loss necessarily limits or intrudes upon every
other member’s ability to prove the same").

B. Rule 23(b)
Assuming argu~ndo that Plaintiffs meet.

khe adequacy requirement of. Rule 23(a)(4),
the Court finds that Plaintiffs have neverthe’
less failed to meet the additional require-
men~s of Rule 23(b). Plaintiffs contend that
this action qualifies for class action status
only under the third alternative of that Rule.
To qualify for ceri~cation under Rule
23(b)(3), a class action must meet the follow-
ing two requirements: (1) common questions
mu~t "predominate .over any questions affect-
ing only individual members"; and (2) chss
resolution must be "superior to other avail-
ablemethods for the fair and efficient adjudi-
cation of the controversy." Fed.R.Civ.P.
23(b)(3). Rule 23(b)(3) includes a nonex-
haustive list.of factors pertinent to a court’s
examination of the predominance and superi-
ority criteria: "(A) the i~terest;of members
of the class in individually controlling the
prosecution or defense .of separate actions;
(B) the extent and nature of any litigation
concerning the controversy already com-
n~enced by or against members of the class;
(C) the desirability or undesirability of con-
centrating the Htigation of the claims in the
par~iculdr forum; (D) the difficulties likely to
be encountered in. the management of a class
action." Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(b)(3)(A)-(D).

555
1162 (9th Cir.1997), ce~. denied~ ~ U.S.

, 119 S.Ct. 46, 142 L.Ed2d 36 (1998)
(citing Twin City Spo~service, Inc. v.
Charles O: Finley & Co., Inc., 676 F.2d 1291,
1302 (9th Cir.1982)). The rule Of reason as
applied to this case would require the Court
to individually analyze each relationship be-
tween a distrib~itor and Anheuser-Busch.
The 12-state region encompassed by Plain-
tiffs’ class definition implicates 150 indepen-
dent Anheuser-Busch.dist~ibutors. Clearly,
individual questions would predominate in
such an analysis.

Furthermore, the plethora of possible rea-.
sons why an individual distributor chose to
discontinue distribution of a particular brand
of beer introduces myriad individual ques-
tions. In each instance where a craft b.rewer
was terminated or refused distribution by an
Anheuser-Busch distributor~ any or all of the
following business reasons .may have been
involved: brand performance; change in
company business philosophy; pricing; prod-
uct quality; lack of brewer support; invento-
ry or delivery problems; market saturation;
and pressure by Anheuser-Busch. Resolv-
ing the question of why a particular craft
beer was dropped by a distributor requires
analysis Of in.dividual issues.

In addition, the variety and a4ailability of
distribution alternatives in each local area
will necessitate a separate inquiry for each
area. Individual.questions will certah!ly pre-
dominate over commonquestions in such in-
quiries.

1. P, redominance
[12] In this action, individual questions

ov~rwhelmLngly predominate any common
questions o~ law or fact. A brief consider-
ation of Plaintiffs’ claims against Anheuser-
Busch bears this out.

a. Exclusive Dealing (Claims 1 and 2)

Plaintiffs’ first and second causes of action
allege that Anheuser-Busch and certain’of its
independent distributors have engaged in ex-
clusive dealing. Courts "analyze ch.alleng,es
to exclusive dealing arrangements und.er the
antitrust rule of reason." Omega Envi~on-
menta. ~ Inc. v. Gilbarco, Inc., 127 F.3d 1157,

b..Concerted Refusal to Deal and Group
¯ Boycott (Claims 3 and 4)

Plaintiffs argue strenuously that their con-
certed refusal to deal and group boycott
causes of action constitute per se statutory
violations that involve predominantly com-
mon questions. This argument is without.
merit. In this action, the relationships at
issue are vertical--not horizontal--in nature.
Although under the Sherman Act "any
agreement by a group of competitors to boy-
cot~ a particular buyer .or group of buyers is
illegal per se," Federal Maritime Commis-
sion v. Af~tiebolage~ Svenska Amerika Lin-
ie% 390 U.S. 238, 250, 88 S.Ct. 1005, 19

i
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L.Ed.2d 1071 (1968), the’ present action does
not involve an ggreement by a. group. Rath-
er, this action involves a series of agreements
between Anheuser-Busch and individual in-
dependent distributors.

Plaintiffs allege that Anheuser-Busch has
forced its independent distributors to become
exclusive. This allegati.on, however, impli-
cates the vertical relationships between An-
heuser-Busch and each independent distribu-
tor. Determining whether Anheuser-Busch
forced each independent distributor to act as
it did would necessarily .require separate
analyses of the distributors’ various decisions
regarding whether to distribute each craf~
beer. Individual questions certainly predom-
inate in such an in.qulry.

c. Attempted Monopolization (Claim 5)

Plaintiffs allege that Anheuser-Busch has
a~tempted to monopolize the beer industry in
the relevant market. "lilt is generally re-
quired that to demonstrate a~empted mo-
nopolization a plaintiff must prove (1) that
the defendant has engaged in predatory or
anticompetitive conduct with (2) a specific
intent to monopolize and (3) a dangerous
probability of achieving monopoly power."
Spectrum Sports Inc. v. McQuillan, 506 U.S.
447, 456, 113 S.Ct. 884, 122 L.Ed.2d 247
(1993).

As discussed above, an analysis of Anheu-
ser-Busch’s conduct will require a distribu-
to.r-by-dis~.~ibutor and a brewer-bY-brewer
approach. This ~s so particularly as regards
the proof of a probability of achieving monop-
oly power. "[D]emous~rating the dangerous
probability of monopolization in an a~empt
case also reqtt~es inquiry, into the relevant
product and geographic market and the de-
fendant’s economic power in that market."
Id. at 459, 113 S.Ct. 8.84. While some ’courts
have held. that "determination of the relevant
market, either geographic .or product, is al-
most exclusively a fac~ question for the jury,"
SoIlenbarger v. Mountain States Telephone
& Telegraph, 121 F.R.D. 417, 424 ~.N.M.
1988), for pttrposes of determining class cer-
tification, the Court must identify the sub-

stantive issues raised by the cause of action "
and .then inquire into the proof relevant to
each issue, see Simer v. Rios, 661 F.2d 655,
672 (7th Cir.1981); E~and.ing Energy, Inc.
v. Koch Industries, Inc., 132 F.R.D. 180, 188
¯ (S.D.Te~:1990). Even if the trier of fact
ultimately determines that the relevant geo-
graphic market is the entire 12-state region
iden~fied in the class definiGon, the proof
that will be relevant to that determination
will be based on fac~ specific to each local
area. The Cour~ determines that~ overall,
individual questions will predominate in the
determination of Plaintiffs’ attempted mo-
nopolization claim, as they will in the detsr-
mination of Plaintiffs’ exclusive dealing and
concer~ed refusal to deal and group boycott
claims.

2. Superiority

The Court is satisfied that the best method
for proceeding with the present .action is as a
consolidated case rather than as a class ac-
tion.

IV. CONCLUSION

Plain~ffs are not typical of the class they
seek to represent because of in~ra-class con-
flicts stemming from the Plaintiffs’ competi-
tive relationship. In addition, individual
questions of fact predominate in this action.
Therefore, the Cour~ DENIES without prej-
udice Plaintiffs’ motion for class certification
(docket no. 32).~

IT IS SO ORDERED.

I. Concurrently with their reply brief, Plaintiffs
submitted evidentiary objections to declarations.
submitted by Anhenser-Busch in opposition to
the motion for class certification (docket no. 58).

As the Court did not consider any of the evidence
to which Plaintiffs obje.cted in its determination
of the present motion, a ruling on Plaintiffs’
objection is unnecessary.


